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PETITION FOR REVIEW AS A MATTER OF RIGHT

Prayer for Review

Petitioner P.F. (Father) is the natural father of Baby Girl G. He seeks relief from
the decision of the Kansas Court of Appeals (KCOA) upholding the trial court’s orders
terminating his rights as father and permitting adoption of his daughter born September
19, 2018.

Nature of the Relief Sought: Father prays this Court find K.S.A. 59-2136(h)
unconstitutional; reverse the KCOA orders of termination and adoption; and remand this
case to the district court to initiate proceedings effectuating an expedited change in

custody from the adoptive parents to Father without undue delay.

Date of KCOA Decision

November 22, 2018.

Statement of Issues

L. Whether K.S.A. 59-2136(h) is unconstitutional because,
Father was deprived of his substantive constitutional right without a
finding of unfitness;
Father was deprived of his substantive constitutional right through
an unequal “biological parent” standard instead of a more

appropriate and equal “preferred parent” standard;




Father was deprived of his substantive constitutional right based
upon a subjective un-get-at-able standard; and/or
Father was deprived of his substantive constitutional right when the
child was placed with the adoptive parents during the pendency of
the adoption case.

IL. Whether the KCOA erred in finding that there was clear and convincing

evidence to support termination.

Relevant Facts

After knowing each other just a few months, Father and A.G. (Mother) had a brief
relationship; a few weeks later they briefly reconnected, and Baby Girl G. was conceived.
(R V, 30, VI, 148-149.) Initially, Mother declared firmly that Father was not the
biological father (R, V, 140; VII, 4-5). A few weeks later, following a doctor’s
appointment, she confidently asserted he was (R, V, 249-250). From the time Father
knew of Mother’s pregnancy, he adamantly declared his desire to father the baby (R, V,
250).

Mother and Father exchanged some 3500 texts (their primary form of
communication, R, V, 206; VI, 153), during the months from February to late July of
2018. Much of the dialogue was cordial and focused on preparing for the baby. (R, V,
149-150, 167; VII, 200, X). At times there was conflict and both used hard words. (R, V,
174, 181-182, 192, 194-195, 196; VII, 10, X.} (The KCOA pulled out and emphasized a

quote from a text at p. 2 of the opinion, to support the conclusion that Father did not




provide emotional support. However, if you go to the text in context, at R, X, there is a
series of text exchanges on 2/14/18 between Mother and Father -- before Father knows he
is the father — where they are arguing about drama at the store and their break up. This
quote is outside the statutory time frame of six months, which ran from April to
September, and thus inapplicable, as the statute should be strictly construed.)

Often Mother and Father had cordial dialogue (R, V, 149-150, 167). Many
instances of kindly exchanges about Mother and the baby girl are found at R, X, and
outlined in Father’s brief with the KCOA (pp. 7-11). At least seventy different entries
show Father expressing genuine concern and care for Mother. (R, X, entries of 3/14,
3/16, 3/18, 3/19, 3/21, 3/22, 3/24, 3/26, 3/29, 3/30, 3/31, 4/5, 4/10, 4/11, 4/12, 4/17, 4/18,
4/29, 512, 5/4, 5/6, 5/10, 5/13, 5/15, 5/20, 6/2, 6/3, 6/10, 6/11, 6/12, 6/13, 6/19, 6/22, 7/1,
7/8,7/9,7/16, 7/27.)

During most of the pregnancy, Mother lived with her boyfriend, Z.H., who
testified she did not have to pay bills while living there (R, V, 255). Mother was on
KanCare so she had no medical bills, (R, V, 162; VII, 172) and WIC (R, VII, 32), so she
had help with food (beyond what Z.H. provided). Mother was working (R, V, 48-49), and
managed to arrange for transportation in several ways, including borrowing a vehicle to
travel to Towanda to see her boyfriend for lunch on at least one occasion. (R, V,75.) A
few months into the pregnancy, Mother was losing her apartment (though she rarely
stayed there, instead living with Z,H., R, V, 51). Father offered to let her live with him,
where he lived in a rented home with his mother and grandmother; also letting her know

he intended to buy a house that would house all of them — himself, his mother and



grandmother, the child, and Mother if she so desired. (Ultimately Father did buy this
home, taking a hardship withdrawal from his 401(k) to do so. R, VI, 208; VII, 97-100.)
Mother declined the offer; lived with a relative and friend for a few weeks each, then
moved in permanently with Z.H. (R, V, 186-187). Later, in July, Mother had a temporary
falling out with Z.H., which sent her into an emotional state (Z.H. having declared he did
not love her, R, V, 247-249). Father again offered his home; and also offered to pay a
deposit and use his long time relationship with a landlord, to help mother get into housing
(R, VI, 186-189). Again, Mother declined, and ultimately reunited with Z.H., where she
lived up to the time of trial in this matter. (R, V, 187-188, 197.) Much was made below
of the emotional relationship between Father and Mother, with Mother testifying
repeatealy that she did not feel supported (e.g., R, V, 41, 42, 68, 72, 99, 159-160, 175-
176).

Even though the record shows Father lived from paycheck to paycheck, with only
small balances in his checking account at the end of the relevant months (R, VII, 16-22),
Father provided financial support to Mother, including: purchased and had fixed a Vape
pen to help Mother quit smoking during the pregnancy (R, VIL, 27:2-4; R, V, 47:15-19);
paid for several meals for Mother (R, VII, 57:17-18); paid Mother’s phone bill (R, VII,
57:15-16); gave Mother gas money (R, V, 229:5); gave Mother rides/Uber offer (R, VII,
33:5-15; R, V, 237:19-24); purchased and obtained numerous baby items (R, VI, 214:2-
25). Other support included: allowed Mother to receive her mail at his place to avoid the
cost of a PO Box (R, V, 190:25-191:3); offered to allow her to store her belongings at his

place, to save storage costs (R, V, 190:25-191:3); offered to help Mother move, to save



moving costs (R, VII, 39:8-10; R, V, 190:25-191:3); provided transportation from
Mother’s appointment to enroll in the Women, Infants, and Children (“WIC”) assistance
program, which provided her food benefits (R, V, 2-22); helped Mother choose an
insurance company for her healthcare coverage (R, X, 15-20); attended a six-week
parenting course with Mother, making available $400 in baby supplics/diapers (R, V,
150:15-22); offered to pay a $250.00 security deposit on an apartment for Mother, which
she ultimately declined in favor of moving in with Z.H. (R, V, 187:18-23; R, VII, 38:23-
39:7); attended four doctor’s appointments with Mother, and expressed a desire to attend
more (honoring Mother’s refusals when they occurred) (R, V 200; R, X, 264-268, 278-
282); helped Mother plan the baby shower and make an invite list (R, X, 132-133); gave
input and helped Mother choose a name for the baby (R, X, 151); helped plan co-
parenting, even offering to help find an attorney to help them establish a plan (and
dropping the topic when Mother objected, to keep the peace) (R, X, 69, 190, 197, 275,
276, 281); made numerous and ongoing offers to help Mother with anything she needed
(R, X, 278, 317); frequently inquired about Mother’s well-being and if she had eaten, and
generally expressing concern for her and the baby’s well-being, letting her know she and
the baby were a priority to him (R, X, 48, 124, 278-279, 326-328.); tried to maintain an
amicable relationship, asking that they get along for the sake of the baby, and even
suggesting joint counseling (R, X, 223, 277); encouraged Mother when she was job
searching, providing her a resume template, and giving her input (R, X, 122, 211);
encouraged Mother that she would make a good mother (R, X, 18, 140, 200, 311); after

the child was born, left a $100 check for care of the child (R, VI, 230:19-25).



Meanwhile, in late July, Mother completely cut Father off. (R, V, 207-209; R, X,
entries from 7/25-10/1.) She said repeatedly she wanted him to leave her alone, leaving
him to balance his desire to remain involved and his desire not to cause Mother to
escalate. (R, V, 97: “If you want to help, leave me alone;” R, X, entries of 3/23, 4/4,
4/29, 5/13, 5/14, 6/11, 6/12, 7/9, 7/25, 219-226.) The time frame when Mother was
making the decision to place the child for adoption (without telling Father) coincides with
the time frame when the tone of the text messages became more strained, ultimately
leading to Mother telling Father to leave her alone, and “ghosting” him. (R, V, 200, 207,
211.) Knowing Father wanted to parent his child, Mother had induced delivery, delivered
the child, and immediately placed the child with adoptive parents, all without telling
Father. (R, V, 211-213.) She did all this after consulting with an attorney (R, V, 197-
202). Father learned of the birth through Mother’s aunt. (R, V, 213.) When Father
learned, he went to court, declared himself the father, took a genetic test to establish
paternity, and filed a paternity action seeking visitation. (R, IV, 204; R, VI, 227).
Father’s paternity was confirmed October 24 (R, IV, 15.) The same day Father moved
for immediate custody or visitation (R, II, 61.}

During the pendency of the cases below, Father pressed for visits, and was
allowed some. At first, he had to drive from Wichita to Garden City, Kansas; with time
the visits were moved to Great Bend, Kansas. (R, IV, 45, 174-175.) Always the visits
were under the watchful eye of a professional hired by the adoptive parents, who
recorded and reported his every move. Notwithstanding some nitpicking about what type

of bottle he used, how he held and cuddled and slept with the baby, and his seeming



frustration (like any new parent) with a crying baby (R, V, 107-108, 117-118, 121),
Father loved and bonded with the child, desired to care for her, and demonstrated the
willingness and ability to learn what he needed to learn to do so (R, V, 122, 123, 127-
128, 130). Father asked for information about development and doctor’s appointments,
and the baby girl’s social security number to add her to his insurance, which was denied.
(R, II, 119.) Even so, when the trial court terminated his rights as a father, and ordered
adoption, Father was abruptly and unceremoniously cut off from these visits, and has not
seen his daughter since that day.

After a three-day evidentiary hearing, on March 8, 2019, the trial court found
Father had failed to support Mother, and terminated his rights as a parent. The court
declined to make a finding of unfitness (R, VIII, 13). After a timely appeal, on
November 22, 2019, the KCOA upheld the district court’s decision, finding that Father
failed without reasonable cause to support Mother during the last six months of her
pregnancy The Court specifically noted the evidence showed Father planned to parent
Baby Girl G, and did things to prepare for fatherhood, but that under Kansas law, an
unwed father has a specific duty to affirmatively provide support, particularly financial,
to the Mother during the last six months of pregnancy (p. 15). The court declined to
address best interests, saying the trial court did not use it as the sole basis for terminating

parental rights. The court also declined to find Father unfit.
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Argument

The Court should review this case because: As a matter of right, per Rule
8.03(e)(1) because constitutional issues are raised for the first time as a result of the
KCOA decision. As a matter of discretion per Rule 8.03(e)(2) because of the importance
of the questions presented, which are of great public importance and consequence, and
they are issues largely not heretofore addressed by this Court; and, because the KCOA
decision demonstrates the nced for an updated review of the constitutionality of K.S.A.
59-2136(h).

The Court should consider the constitutional issues though not raised below or
with the KCOA because: The newly asserted constitutional challenges raise questions of
law arising on admitted facts; and, consideration of the newly asserted constitutional
challenges is necessary to serve the ends of justice or prevent the denial of fundamental

rights. See State v. Astorga, 295 Kan. 339, 350, 284 P.3d 279, 287 (2012).

I. K.S.A.59-2136(h) is unconstitutional

Father was deprived of his substantive constitutional right through an unequal “biological
parent” standard instead of a more appropriate and equal “preferred parent” standard.

“The Supreme Court has long recognized that a biological parent’s relationship
with his or her child is a fundamental right that is tied to life, liberty, and the pursuit of
happiness. The state should only sever such a connection under limited circumstances.”
Brett Potash, Unequal Protection: Examining the Judiciary’s Treatment of Unwed

Fathers, 34 TOURO L.REV, 649, 659 (2018). With time, a requirement of showing more
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than a biological connection has been imposed on unwed fathers. K.S.A. 59-2136(h)
reflects that standard.  Recognizing the KCOA has previously addressed the
constitutionality of K.S.A, 59-2316(h), In the Interest of Baby Boy N., 19 Kan.App.2d
574, 874 P.2d 680 (1994), review denied, 255 Kan. 100 (1994), cert denied, D.G. v.
TMN., 513 U.S. 1018, 115 S.Ct. 581, 130 L.Ed.2d 496 (1994); Father asks this Court to
review the statute and find that it violates Father’s substantive due process and liberty
rights and interests. Protections afforded stepfathers and participatory fathers, as well as
biological mothers, should be expanded to include non-participatory fathers. “[Bleing a
biological father alone, absent exceedingly persuasive facts that paint the father in a
negative light, should entitle an unwed biological father to at least some constitutional
right to affect the ‘care, custody, and management’ of his child. Involvement in a child’s
life should absolutely be encouraged and rewarded, but not being involved should not
dispel an unwed father of all his constitutional rights as it pertains to his biological
children...” Potash at 684. From 1980 to 2010, children born to unwed parents in
Kansas rose from 12.2 to 37.7 percent. State of the Family: Kansas Child & Family

Wellbeing Indicators, 2010. Online: https://bit1y/2MoPBge (last viewed 12/23/2019). It

is time to revisit the constitutional validity of this statute, and give unwed fathers full
constitutional consideration under a standard of strict scrutiny.

Father was deprived of his substantive constitutional right without a finding of unfitness.

A fit parent has a fundamental liberty interest protected by the Fourteenth
Amendment to make decisions regarding the care, custody, and control of his child. n

the Interests of M.S., 56 Kan.App.2d 1247, 1252, 447 P.3d 994 (2019). A parent whose
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child is the subject of a child in need of care (CINC) action has more rights than an
unwed father who has not been shown unfit. K.S.A. 59-2136(h) allows for terminaﬁon
for multiple reasons, only one of which is unfitness. Unfitness was not found in this case.
Thus, a fit parent was deprived of his fundamental liberty interest, contrary to the
constitution. And Father was denied equal protection, vis-3-vis a parent in a CINC case.
It is irrational to put a Father who has not abused or neglected his child to a higher test
than a father who there is some probable cause to believe has. As long ago as Quilloin v.
Walcott, 434 U.S. 246, 255, 98 S.Ct. 549, 555, 54 L.Ed.2d 511, 520 (1978), the United
States Supreme Court held that the constitution is offended if a state breaks up a natural
family “without some showing of unfitness” (in that case based simply on a “best interest
of the children” analysis). Yet inexplicably that right has been muted for unwed fathers,
by imposing arbitrary requirements related to support of the mother and other indicators
of a biological-plus relationship with the child, before the child is born. Father did
‘everything possible to demonstrate his attachment to the child, and his actions would

undoubtedly be seen as legally fit in a CINC case.!

I We recognize language in In re Adoption of M.D.K., 30 Kan.App.2d 1176, 1182-83 58
P.3d 745 (2002), suggesting an unwed man who learns that his unwed sexual partner is
pregnant must take measures to fulfill an obligation to support the mother, being creative
as can be given the particular circumstances. Aside from the unconstitutionality of such a
draconian and artificial requirement, as asserted in this Petition, Father also suggests that
this 1s a rarely known legal requirement, and the judiciary, society, and otherwise, have
done little to inform the population of young men in this State that this requirement
exists. It is probably unknown outside a small group of jurists who work in this
specialized field. Given the nature of today’s society and sexual activity outside
marriage, this imposes a little known heavy burden on the fundamental right to parent.

13




In In the Interest of Baby Boy N., 19 Kan.Ap.2d at 583-584, the court said, “where
the father’s ‘right’ is purely biological and there has been no family formed, no bonding,
no support, and no love, that right seems to be obviously less deserving of support.
Those instances specified [by statute] in which consent may be declared unnecessary are
examples of situations in which the right of a natural father is little more than biological,”
finding K.S.A. 59-2136(h)(1)-(7) constifutional. ~This conclusion is what Father
challenges, asserting it is not constitutional to give the biological father less rights. When
Father bonds with, shows support for and loves his child, even when given a small
window of time to do so, he should not be stripped of parental rights because Mother
does not feel supported.

Father was deprived of his substantive constitutional right based upon a subjective un-
get-at-able standard.

Even though numerous specific facts reflect that Father gave and offered support
in tangible and intangible ways, Mother testified she did not feel supported, which was
given much emphasis as discussed above. It is impossible for Father in this situation to
prove that Mother felf supported. By putting such emphasis on a few words plucked out
of 3500 textual messages, and by putting such emphasis on Mother’s feelings, Father was
faced with a subjective standard he had no way to reach. No matter what he proved at
trial, he had no way to overcome Mother’s claim that she did not feel supported. Thus
the burden shifted to Father, and he was left without any means to meet that burden.

Borrowing from First Amendment law, we see that this is a constitutional

problem. The United States Supreme Court has disallowed the use of highly malleable
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standards with an inherent subjectiveness about it which would allow a fact finder to rule
against a person based on the fact finder’s tastes, views, or dislike of particular
expressions. Thus in Hustler Magazine v. Falwell, 486 U.S. 46, 108 S.Ct. 876, 99
I.Fid.2d (1988), the Court reversed a verdict on a defamation claim that was based on an
instruction that let the jury impose liability based upon the standard of “outrageousness.”
Similarly, in Boos v. Barry, 485 U.S. 312, 108 S.Ct. 1157, 9 L.Ed.2d 33 (1988), the Court
rejected a clause in a District of Columbia code that prohibited signs that affronted
foreign officials, rejecting the code’s “dignity” standard as too subjective.

Father contends, thercfore, that a statute that allows Mother to claim she
subjectively felt unsupported, and based upon that feeling of not being supported, Father
can be deprived of his constitutional right to parent his child, is an unconstitutional
statute. This puts Father at a constitutionally-infirm disadvantage, and likely implicates
First Amendment rights. The objective evidence shows Mother functioned normally.
She worked; she had social discourse; she pursued a romantic relationship; she went to
doctor’s appointments; in short, she lived like a person who was not stressed from lack of
support. To have a statute that allows her to simply state that she was stressed and felr
unsupported, is an unconstitutional infringement on Father’s rights as a parent.

Father was deprived of his substantive constitutional right when the child was placed
with the adoptive parents during the pendency of the adoption case.

We next challenge the termination because Father was put at a disadvantage when
the baby was placed with the preadoptive parents while the case was pending. This takes

meaning from Father’s constitutional right as a parent.
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The practice of granting pendent lite custody of a child to preadoptive
parents puts the father at a distinct disadvantage to claim his parental rights
and increases the possibility that he is not given custody of his child despite
a court’s determination of his parental fitness. The first months and years
of a child’s life are critical to her wellbeing. The caretaker forms a strong
attachment with the infant through caring for his physical and emotional
needs on a daily basis. *** In essence, by granting pendent lite custody to a
preadoptive family, the state may predetermine which party will prevail.
This practice unfairly reduces the state’s burden in determining a father’s
rights. How is a father supposed to show the court he is a fit parent when
he is not given the opportunity to care for his child? If a father had pendent
lite custody, he would be able to provide the court with direct evidence of
his fitness.

Robbin P. Gonzalez, The Rights of Putative Fathers to Their Infant Children in Contested
Adoptions:  Strengthening State Laws that Currently Deny Adequate Protection, 13
MICH. J. GENDER & L. 39, 57, 58 (2006). Father was in fact at a distinct disadvantage;
having very limited opportunity to demonstrate his parenting ability, in few visits in an
artificial environment closely watched by an adversary’s hand-picked professional. This
unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to Father.

In In re Adoption of C.L., 308 Kan. 1268, 1285-1286 427 P.3d 951, 963 (2018),
where a father expressed desire to assume parental responsibilities when he learned of the
baby three days after birth, the Court said (quoting from a KCOA concurring opinion);

At that point, instead of rushing to the courthouse to file an adoption

petition, all parties involved in the case should have at least temporarily put

the adoption plans on hold. In the meantime, KCSL, or some other

appropriate agency could have conducted an investigation of [Father’s]

home and background to see if he would have been a suitable placement

option for C.L. Assuming that [Father] passed the initial investigation and

background check, C.L. could have been temporarily placed with [Father]

for a trial period to be monitored by the appropriate agency of the courts.

Then, if any evidence developed that [Father] was not properly caring for

C.L., a petition for termination of parental rights could have been filed with
the court. ***

16




II. The KCOA erred in finding that there was clear and convincing evidence to
support termination.

Adoption statutes must be strictly construed in favor of maintaining the rights of
natural parents. In re Adoption of Baby Girl P., 291 Kan. 424, 433, 242 P.3d 1168
(2010). The focus is on what is reasonable, not what might be the best effort, “We do
not find in the statutory scheme a legislative call to make the assertion of parental rights a
Herculean task. The preservation of a father’s relationship with his child is the starting
point of a termination proceeding, not the finish line that a father must labor to reach.”
291 Kan. at 433. Clear and convincing evidence is a standard of proof designed to protect
important individual interests or rights. It searches for what is highly probable, In re
B.D.Y., 286 Kan. 686, 697, 187 P.3d 594 (2008). The petitioners against Father were
required to show that it was highly probable that Father failed to accept some measure of
responsibility for his child’s future, In re Adoption of C.L., 308 Kan. 1268, 1284, 427
P.3d 951 (2018).

Applying these proper principles here, the evidence is clear and convincing that
Father provided meaningful reasonable support to Mother. Mother had no unmet needs.
She lived most of the six months (from April to September) with her boyfriend, Z.H.,
who testified she did not have to pay any bills to live there. She managed to find
transportation through one means or another, including with help from Father. She had
no medical costs. She had additional money for food (beyond what Z.H. provided)
through WIC. She was working, and she was fully functional. She had a baby shower

where she received baby items (a few weeks before signing adoption papers). In /n the
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Interest of Baby Boy N., 19 Kan.App.2d at 588, the court recognized that “[i]t is possible
that the mother’s needs and requirements are a relevant circumstances in determining
whether a natural father acted reasonably in failing to provide her with support.”

A common sense approach is called for. Father and Mother had a short-lived
relationship. Uncertainty lingered throughout the pregnancy, at Mother’s hand, as to
whether Father was for sure the biological father. Notwithstanding this, Father took
numerous steps to offer and give real support to Mother, in consideration of her needs
and circumstances, and her preferences and responses to Father’s personality and style.
More important, Father definitively took steps to prepare for the care of his child. He
continued those steps once he learned of the birth, and the effort to place the child for
adoption. He presented himself in judicial proceedings. He ensured he was identified
definitively as the Father. He participated in all the visits he was allowed, preparing
himself as a Father. He bonded with and loved the child. He gave support to the Mother
and child inasmuch as it was necessary and he was allowed. “Simply put, these were ‘the
actions of a father who is attempting to maintain a relationship with his child, rot the
actions of a father who is neglecting his child.” [Emphasis added.] Baby Girl P., 291
Kan. at 434. To hold otherwise would encourage those with another interest to place a
‘series of hurdles’ between a putative father and his child to increase the likelihood of a
successful adoption. 291 Kan. at 434. Termination of parental rights should not be
determined by which side schemes to be shrewder or more strategic.” In re Adoption of

C.L., 308 Kan. at 1285.
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Per Rule 8.03(6)(F), The Memorandum Opinion of the Kansas Court of Appeals
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NOT DESIGNATED FOR PUBLICATION
No. 121,051
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

In the Matter of the Adoption of
BABY GIRL G.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Appeal from Sedgwick District Court; ROBB W. RUMSEY, judge. Opinion filed November 22,
2019. Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded with directions.

Jordan E. Kieffer, of Dugan & Giroux Law, Inc., of Wichita, for appellant.

Martin W. Bener, of Martin, Pringle, Oliver, Wallace & Bauer, L.L.P., of Wichita for appellees.

Before POWELL, P.J., PIERRON and ATCHESON, JJ.

PIERRON, J.: P.F. (Father), the biologi.cal father of Baby Girl G., appeals the
district court's order terminating his parental rights. The district court found that under
K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136(h)(1)(D), Father failed without reasonable cause to support
Baby Girl G.'s birthmother, A.G. (Mother), during the last six months of her pregnancy.
Father also appeals the district court's award of attorney fees. We affirm in part, reverse

in part, and remand with directions.

Factual and Procedural History

Mother and Father met in 2017 while working together. They dated briefly in the
fall of 2017 but broke up at the end of October. They briefly reconnected in December

2017, and had sex, but they did not resume their romantic relationship.




In January 2018, Mother found out she was pregnant. Because she had had sex
with two other men around the same time she had sex with Father, she did not think he
was the biological father at first. Father heard rumors that Mother was pregnant, but he

did not confirm it with her until February 2018.

In a series of text messages from February 14, 2018, Mother was upset with Father

for talking about her pregnancy with others. Father replied:

" really don't give & fuck about you. . . . [1]f you're pregnant, my only concern would be
if it's mine. . . . [['ve] never had this kind of contempt for someone before. I've said some

of the meanest things I've ever said to {a] person to you."

Mother assured Father the child was not his. Father told her to let him know if she found

out otherwise.

In March 2018, after a doctor's appointment, Mother told Father she was now sure
he was the child's father. Father indicated he intended to parent the child. He also
mentioned both prenatal and postnatal DNA testing to confirm the child was his. The
couple discussed prenatal DNA testing several times over the course of the pregnancy but

ultimately concluded it was too risky and expensive.

For most of the pregnancy, Mother and Father were in contact through text
messages, and over 3,500 text messages were admitted into evidence. In the messages,
the two had many amicable discussions. They talked about how excited they both were.
They picked a name for the baby together. They discussed Mother's job search. They
discussed their respective situations in the present and how they would co-parent in the

future. Father often asked Mother how she was doing or if she had eaten.




Their text discussions were not always cordial, though. For example, in March,
Father accused Mother of lying about who she had slept with saying "you've had sex with
1,000 people in the last three months." When she denied lying, Father insisted she was
responsible for convincing him she was being truthful. He told her, "[Y]ou do understand
that [ will take that kid from you don't you if you do not cooperate with me???" He
eventually apologized, explaining he was scared the child might not be his, and he
overreacted. He later told her, "I want you to know that I would never say something like
that unless I felt I had to. I don't even remember why I thought I had to at the time now [
was so heated, you weren't saying things that I felt were making things better."

A little over a week after that argument, Father asked Mother if it would offend
her if he asked about DNA testing at the first doctor's appointment he went to. Mother
said it would, adding "[i]t's just starting to bother me that [the child's paternity is] all you
ever want {o talk about." Father said the issue kept coming up "because I don't know

100%. I want to know 100%."

Father lafer testified he felt he had been supportive and encouraging in his texts to
Mother. He admitted they fought sometimes, but he tried to "de-escalate” the fights.
Mother agreed Father was sometimes emotionally supportive. But she also felt Father had
been selfish. To her, his overriding concern seemed to be whether he was the biological
father. She felt the relationship was one-sided, and he needed more emotional support
than she did. When she needed space, he would not respect her wishes and continued to

text her constantly.

Even though Mother had a job for most of her pregnancy, she had significant
financial difficulties. On two occasions, she told Father she could not pay her rent and
was facing eviction. Father offered to let her store things at his home, but he did not
provide other financial support. At the end of May 2018, Mother lost her apartment

because she could not pay her rent. She then moved in with her current boyfriend. She

-
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broke up with her boyfriend briefly in July and had to stay with various relatives before
moving back in with him.

Mother also had car problems and went through several cars during her pregnancy.

Father gave her a few rides but never offered to help her get her car fixed.

Father had been working at the same full-time job since 2014, making $15.73 an
hour. He also had a part-time job at Pizza Hut starting in 2017 but quit in June of 2018,
He made minimum wage at that job. In November 2018, he provided a financial affidavit
stating his gross monthly income was $3,046. He also lived with his mother and

grandmother, who brought in $1,600 and $1,200 respectively.

At the evidentiary hearing, Father testified he did not want to give Mother any
cash. He felt she was financially irresponsible because she was being garnished and had
been evicted from her apartment. He believed it would have been a waste to give her
cash. Instead, he said he wanted to offer her something he felt was more beneficial like

shelter, food, storage, or transportation.

Father provided some direct financial support for Mother. Father bought a Vape
pen for Mother for about $45 to help her quit smoking. When it broke, he also helped her
get it fixed for free. He paid a $35 phone bill for her. He took her out to eat twice,
spending somewhere between $30 and $50. And he gave her $5 for gas.

Father made several other offers of financial help that Mother did not accept. He
offered to help her pay a $250 security deposit for a new apartment she was considering
renting, Once when Mother needed a ride, Father offered to pay for an Uber because he
could not leave work to give her a ride himself. Mother said she declined the offer
because it would cost too much and she knew she could find another way to get where

she needed to go. Another time, Mother told Father she was hungry and would probably
4



not eat that day because she did not have money. Father offered to buy her "some cheap
stuff, ramen, etc." Mother eventually responded that her aunt was taking her out to eat.
Father also made many general offers to help, such as telling Mother to let him know if
she needed anything.

Father also offered to let Mother live with him a couple of times. Mother testified
she did not accept his offers because she did not think they were genuine. She also did
not see it as a real option because he lived with his mother and grandmother. Father
testified his offers were genuine, but he knew Mother was unlikely to move in with him

because she was dating someone else.

Father attended four doctor's appointments with Mother, one per month from April
through July. Father also attended a six-session parenting class with Mother. As a result
of them both attending the class, she could have gotten $400 worth of baby items, but

Mother never received them.

Father testified he began acquiring baby items as soon as he found out he was
going to be a father. He bought some of the items and others were given to him. He said
he did not give Mother any of the items because they had decided to split them. Mother
testified many of the items Father claimed to have bought were from her baby shower.

According to her, Father only bought one outfit and received some secondhand items.

Father decided to buy a house during Mother's pregnancy. He had to make a
hardship withdrawal from his 401(k) to put a $3,000 down payment on the house. He
bought the house in June 2018 and closed at the beginning of August 2018. Father said he
bought the house to provide stable housing for the child and Mother if she wanted it. But
Mother testified Father had dreamed of buying a house for many years, and he was

already thinking of buying a house when they dated in the fall of 2017.




In June, Mother began having doubts about whether she could parent the child.
She did not think Father would consent to an adoption. But she also did not feel he was
supporting her, and she did not feel he was fit to be a parent.

In July, Mother told Father about her appointment for an upcoming sonogram,
adding: "There were some mild concerns with [the baby's] growth rate at the last one
apparently. They want to make sure she's on track. They said she's measuring more
consistent with an October 2nd due date but they didn't change it because it was within
10 days." Father replied, "[S]he's probably not mine then. [TJhat sucks." Mother became
upset because Father seemed more concerned with the child's paternity than the child's
health, Father later explained, "T mean, my first thought is I want to be the father of this
child. There's a second thought, but she also says 'mild concerns.' She didn't go into any
further detail than that."

Father posted a Facebook status saying the child might not be his but not
mentioning the child's health. Mother asked him to take it down because she did not want
all his Facebook friends knowing her business and it made her feel very poorly about

herself. Father did not take down the post, but he made it private.

After another argument, Mother stopped responding to Father's texts on July 26,
2018. Father sent several more texts in July and August, one text in September, and a
final text in October 2018. He did not find a way to get financial assistance to Mother
after she stopped talking to him. Mother had texted him the name of the restaurant where
she worked in April 2018, but Father could not remember it. He contacted a family friend
of Mother to get information about her, but the friend did not provide any. Father later
testified he did not know anyone else who still knew her, but he talked to a mutual friend
Mother used to know. On the other hand, Mother claimed they had mutual friends who

knew how to get in contact with her,



Mother was due on September 26, 2018, but she was voluntarily induced a week
early and gave birth to Baby Girl G. on September 19, 2018. She did not tell Father the
baby had been bom. She also consented to an adoption without telling him, knowing he

would not consent.

On September 21, 2018, petitions for adoption of Baby Girl G. and termination of
Father's parental rights were filed, Several weeks later, Father submitted a pro se
voluntary acknowledgement of paternity to the district court. He also submitted to DNA
testing which showed a 99.99% probability he was the biological father. After receiving
the DNA test results, Father moved for immediate custody or visitation. On the same day,
he answered the adoption petition, asking the district court to dismiss the adoption case
and grant him custody. He later filed an answer contesting the petition to terminate his

parental rights.

The district coutt ordered a mental health evaluation for Father. He was diagnosed
with dependent personality disorder, major depressive disorder, and generalized anxiety
disorder. According to the clinical psychologist who evaluated him, personality disorders
cannot be treated with medication. Instead, treatment requires long periods of therapy,
sometimes as long as two years. Father had a history of seeking out mental health care
but not following through on recommendations for therapy. While Father later admitted
he had been dealing with depression for a fong time, he disagreed with the personality

disorder diagnosis and felt he did not need therapy.

Father also submitted to a substance abuse evaluation and a hair follicle test. The
substance abuse evaluation did not recommend treatment for Father. The hair follicle test
came back positive for cocaine, methamphetamine, and marijuana. Father later testified
he started using illegal drugs when he was 16 and had used them for the past 25 years. In

2018, he used cocaine, methamphetamine, and marijuana. He said he planned to no
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longer use illegal drugs. He testified the hair follicle test result was consistent with his
admitted drug use in 2018. He also submitted to three urinalyses (UAs) which all came

back clean,

Father had several supervised visits with Baby Girl G. over the course of the
proceedings. During a couple of the visits, Father appeared to have fallen asleep. The
visit supervisor later testified she found it unusual that Father would fall asleep during the

limited amount of time he had for the visit.

The district court held an evidentiary hearing in March 2019. After the hearing,
the court terminated Father's parental rights. It found by clear and convincing evidence
that Father had failed to support Mother for the last six months of the pregnancy without
reasonable cause. It held that Father's financial support was "insignificant and incidental .
It also held that Father "was not emotionally supportive but instead verbally abusive, self-

centered, mean, and sarcastic, and not responsive to [Mother's] needs.” Father appeals.

Termination of Parental Rights

The adoptive parents (Petitioners) petitioned to terminate Father's parental rights
for three reasons: (1) Father was unfit to be a parent under K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-
2316(h)(1)(B); (2) having knowledge of the pregnancy, Father had failed to provide
Mother with support during the last six months of the pregnancy under K.S.A. 2018
Supp. 59-2316(h)(1)(D); and (3) Father had abandoned Mother even though he knew
about the pregnancy under K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2316(h)(1)(E).

After the evidentiary hearing, the district court found Petitioners had failed to
prove Father abandoned Mother during the pregnancy. The court declined to make a
finding on Father's fitness. But the court found Father had failed to support Mother




during the last six months of her pregnancy. On appeal, Father challenges this last
finding.

When a district court terminates a person's parental rights based on factual
findings made under K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136(h)(1), those factual findings will be
reviewed on appeal to determine if, after reviewing all the evidence in the light most
favorable to the prevailing party, the district court's findings were highly probable, t.e.,
supported by clear and convincing evidence. In re Adoption of B.B.M., 290 Kan. 236,
244,224 P.3d 1468 (2010); see K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136(h)(1) (findings must be
based on "clear and convincing evidence"). When determining whether factuat findings
ar¢ supported by clear and convincing evidence, an appellate court does not weigh
conflicting evidence, pass on the witnesses' credibility, or redetermine questions of fact.

290 Kan. at 244.

If an adoption statute is being used to terminate a natural parent's rights without
consent, that statute is strictly interpreted in favor of maintaining the natural parent's
rights. The party seeking to terminate a parent's rights has the burden of proving by clear
and convincing evidence that termination is appropriate under K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-
2136. In re Adoption of Baby Girl P., 291 Kan. 424, 430, 242 P.3d 1168 (2010).

K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136(h)(1)(D) states a court may terminate a father's
parental rights and find his consent to an adoption unnecessary if the court finds, based
on clear and convincing evidence, that "the father, after having knowledge of the
pregnancy, failed without reasonable cause to provide support for the mother during the
six months prior to the child's birth." Support is defined as "monetary or non~monetary
assistance that is reflected in specific and significant acts and sustained over the
applicable period." K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136{h}(4). In determining whether a father's
parental rights should be terminated, the court "[s]hall consider all of the relevant




surrounding circumstances” and "may disregard incidental visitations, contacts,

communications or contributions.” K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136(h)(2).

An "unwed father must act affirmatively during the mother's pregnancy to protect
his rights to the child." In re Adoption of Baby (irl S., 29 Kan. App. 2d 664, 666, 25 P.3d
466 (2001). The father need not provide total support for the mother during the last six
months of pregnancy, but the father's support must be consequential and reasonable given
the circumstances. General offers of support are not enough to satisfy the father's duty of
support. And a court may consider a mother's refusal of assistance when determining
whether the father provided support. But if the mother fails to make a specific request in
response {0 a father's general offer of support, the mother has not refused his support. /n
re Adoption of M.D.K., 30 Kan. App. 2d 1176, 1179-80, 58 P.3d 745 (2002).

Being unsure of the child's paternity does not absolve a father of his responsibility
to support the mother during pregnancy. Instead, men are presumed to know they may
become a father as a result of having sexual intercourse with a woman, regardless of how
many other sexual partners she has. "If any of those partners wishes to preserve his
parental rights in the event of a later adoption, each one will be required to initiate
reasonable efforts toward supporting the mother prior to the child's birth." In re Adoption
of D.M.M., 24 Kan. App. 2d 783, 790, 955 P.2d 618 (1997).

In its ruling, the district court acknowledged Father had bought Mother a vape
pen, given her $5 for gas, paid a phone bill, treated her to several meals, and gave her a
few rides. But the court found this support was incidental, particularly given Mother's
financial circumstances. The evidence supports the court's finding, as Father's total
financial support amounted to about $115 to $135. Even considering Father's offer to

help pay a $250 security deposit, Father's total financial support was still under $400.
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Father notes he offered to let Mother live with him twice. But Mother testified she
did not think the offers were genuine, and this was not a realistic option. Looking at the
evidence in a light most favorable to Petitioners, then, this does not constitute substantial

support.

Father also claims the evidence shows some of his acts conferred an indirect
financial benefit on Mother. Some of the acts he highlights are: (1) allowing Mother to
receive mail at his house; (2) offering to allow Mother to store her belongings at his
house; (3) offering to help her move; (4) helping her choose health insurance; and (5)
providing transportation for Mother's appointment to enroll in the Women, Infants, and
Children (WIC) food program.

The evidence does not support Father's claim that these acts conferred any real
financial benefit on Mother, While filling out an application for health insurance, Mother
asked Father's opinion about which plan she should choose because he worked in the
insurance industry. Mother otherwise did all the work to enrofl herself, including making
an appointment to expedite her enrollment. Mother's insurance covered all her medical

€Xpenses.

Later, Mother was trying to enroll in a rewards program through her insurance, but
the website she was using kept saying her address was not real. She asked for Father's
address so she could have one piece of mail sent there, Mother also enrolled herself in
WIC to help cover food expenses. Father provided her a ride home from her appointment

to enroll, but he did not give her a ride there.

As for Father's offer to allow Mother to store her belongings at his home, she
never took him up on this offer. But if she had, it is not clear whether this would qualify
as consequential support. The record does not show how many belongings she had to

store or the monetary value of the storage. See In re Adoption of Baby R., No. 108,358,
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2013 WL 646508, at *6 (Kan. App. 2013) (unpublished opinion) (finding evidence

insufficient to show Father's storage of Mother's items constituted financial support).

Based on this evidence, it is questionable whether any of these acts provided any
real support for Mother, She did essentially all the work to enroll herself in health
insurance and WIC. Father's contributions were negligible in this regard. And the record
does not show whether Father's offer to store Mother's belongings constituted a

significant financial contribution.

Father also argues the district court failed to consider the "extensive and consistent
emotional support" he provided through text messages. The district court held that the
two had amicable text messages among the 3,500 texts entered into the record, but the
court also held that Father's texts were sometimes "abusive, sarcastic, mean, and self-
centered.” On appeal, Father does not directly contest the court's finding that his texts
could be abusive, sarcastic, mean, and self-centered. Instead, he argues the court ignored
the texts in which he was emotionally supportive, and it "took isolated instances out of

context to support its finding that any help Father provided was incidental."

Granted, Father sent texts expressing concern for Mother and the child. For
example, Father points out an instance when he texted Mother, "With this heat if you
need to go somewhere and it's too hot I will come get you and take you because we need
you to not be too hot." Another time, Father asked Mother if she would be safe if a
tornado hit near where she was. While these texts show concern, it is questionable
whether they amount to significant nonmonetary assistance, as required by statute. On top
of that, Father also sent many text messages that Mother found upsetting and hurtful.
Mother's testimony, as well as her texts to Father, showed she found his texting to be

very stressful overall.




Father also points out the steps he took to prepare for fatherhood. For example, he
notes he was paying down his debt, and he acquired baby items for his home. But Father
did these things for his own benefit, not Mother's, and they conferred no benefit on her.
For this reason, these acts do not constitute support for Mother during the last six months
of her pregnancy. See In re Adoption of Baby Girl 8., 29 Kan. App. 2d at 670 ("[Mother]
received no benefit from the used baby clothing and furniture [Father] solicited because
they were not delivered to her. This cannot be considered support, since [Mother] did not

reap the benefits.").

Alternatively, Father argues he had reasonable cause for failing to support Mother.
He contends he had limited financial resources. He also asserts Mother interfered with his

ability to provide suppott.

While K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136(h)(1)(D) requires a father to provide support
for the mother during the last six months of the pregnancy, the statute provides an
exception for fathers who fail to provide support because of a reasonable cause. In
determining if a father had reasonable cause for failing to provide support, courts must
consider all relevant circumstances. Inn re Adoption of Baby Girl S., 29 Kan. App. at 667.
In making this determination, courts "must determine whether the natural father has
pursued the opportunities and options which were available to carry out his duties to the
best of his ability." In re Adoption of Baby Boy W., 20 Kan. App. 2d 295, 299, 891 P.2d
457 (1994).

As for Father's financial resources, his bank statements from January 2018 through
September 2018 were admitted into evidence as well as a summary of his income and
expenses from those months prepared by Petitioners' counsel. The statements showed
Father frequently went out to eat. He spent hundreds of dollars on credit card payments
and withdrew hundreds of dollars in cash. He also had some money left over at the end of

each month, though perhaps not much. The district court had also ordered Father to pay
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$400 per month toward his counsel's fees, and he had made these payments from

December 2018 through February 2019.

At the evidentiary hearing, Father testified he essentially lived paycheck to
paycheck. He said his credit card payments were for debt he had acquired before meeting
Mother. He used the cash withdrawals to pay for utilities since he split those bills with his
mother and grandmother. He also helped his mother and grandmother with medical bills.
During the course of the pregnancy, he tried to cut costs by not eating out as much. He
felt the only extravagance was a $142 online purchase "for something musical.” He also

guessed he had spent about $100 on drugs between January and September.

The district court rejected Father's argument that he had reasonable cause not to
provide support because he had limited financial resources. The court held Father "had
disposable and discretionary funds he could have used to support [Mother]." The court
noted Father always had at least some money left in his bank account at the end of the
month. The court also found Father always had money for his needs and wants, including
buying illegal drugs, going out to eat, and paying credit card debt. The court added that

Father had quit his second job and bought a house, both of which reduced his resources.

The evidence supports the district court's findings. Based on Father's financial
records, he could have provided more financial support to Mother, even if it was not a
particularly large amount. By quitting his second job and buying a house, he voluntarily
reduced the potential financial resources he had available to help Mother. Given the
evidence, it is highly probable Father did not carry out his duty to provide financial
support to the best of his ability.

As for Mother's interference, Father claims Mother refused much of the support he
offered. Granted, Mother did decline to take Father up on some of his offers. On at least

one or two occasions, Mother also told Father that she did not want or need anything
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from him. But Mother did accept other offers of support, such as his offer to pay her
phone bill or give her gas money. The record shows Mother had significant financial
difficulties over the course of her pregnancy, particularly regarding housing and
transportation. Father never offered to help her cover rent to keep from being evicted or
to help her pay for car repairs. The offers he made that Mother rejected were often for

incidental support, such as an Uber ride or some ramen,

Father also argues Mother interfered with his ability to provide her support
because she cut off contact with him at the end of July. This argument is not persuasive.
While Father did not have contact with Mother during the last two months of her
pregnancy, he had not provided substantial support in the previous four months, The
record shows he did little to get support to her during those two months. According to his
own testimony, he only asked two people for information about her.

Likewise, the district court rejected Father's argument on this point. While Mother
cut off contact with Father, the court found this was irrelevant. The court noted Father
had already made clear he was not going to give her any money. The court added that
Father had done little to find Mother, even though evidence suggested he may have been

able to do so.

In his brief, Father seems to implicitly make the argument that his rights should
not be terminated because he acted in a way that showed he intended to assert his parental
rights. The evidence does show Father planned to parent Baby Girl G. and did things to
prepare for fatherhood. But under Kansas law, an unwed father has a specific duty to
affirmatively provide support, particularly financial support, to the mother during the last
six months of the pregnancy to ensure his parental rights. Father's financial support
between March and September was inconsequential, amounting to less than $200. While
Father relies heavily on his text messages to bolster his argument, his texts were at best

insignificant suppott, and at worst, actively harmful to Mother. The record does not show
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Father had reasonable cause justifying his failure to support Mother. The result may seem
harsh, as Father intended to parent Baby Girl G. and provided some support. But based
on the evidence, Father failed to perform his legal duty of support, and the district court
did not err in finding so.

Next, Father argues the district court erred in finding it was in Baby Girl G.'s best
interest to terminate his rights and grant the adoption. Father cites K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 59-
2136(h)(2)(A)-(B), which states the district court may "[c]onsider and weigh the best
interest of the child” and "disregard incidental visitations, contacts, communications or
contributions" when determining whether to terminate a parent's rights. The Kansas
Supreme Court has held this determination is discretionary and may not be the sole basis
for terminating a parent's rights under this statute. In re Adoption of Baby Girl P., 291
Kan. at 435.

To begin with, the Kansas Legislature amended this statute, effective July 2018.
The statute no longer states the district court may consider the best interest of the child.
Instead, it now states the court "[s]hall consider all of the relevant surrounding
circumstances” and "may disregard incidental visitations, contacts, communications or
contributions.” K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136(h)(2)(A)-(B). Father does not address what

effect the statute's new language has on this argument.

Another problem in addressing this argument is the district court provided few
findings on this point. In its ruling, the court found only that "[i]t is not in the child's best
interests to deny the adoption.” The court does not identify any legal standard it may have
used or what evidence it may have relied on to reach this conclusion. The lack of findings

on this point thus appears to preclude any meaningful review.

Petitioners still try to argue clear and convincing evidence supports the district

court's finding. They identify several factors a court must consider in determining
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whether an adoption is in the best interest of a child. See In re JA., 30 Kan. App. 2d 416,
425-26, 42 P.3d 215 (2002). They then support many of these factors with information
that does not appear to be in the record. For instance, they claim "the adoptive parents'
motivation to adopt Baby Girl [G.] is simply to raise her as their permanent, and legal,
daughter. They want to offer her love, stability, and opportunity, just as any parent

would." But they do not cite to the record where evidence of this was presented.

The only findings the district court made that seem directly relevant to this issue
were related to Father's mental health. The record shows Father had sought mental health
treatment at COMCARE several times in the past few years. At his most recent
COMCARE intake, he was diagnosed with persistent depressive disorder, also known as
dysthymia. His mood generally did not respond to medication. Therapy was

recommended several times, but he did not follow through on this recommendation.

After his visits to COMCARE, a clinical psychologist evaluated Father for the
court-ordered mental health evaluation and diagnosed him with dependent personality
disorder. That psychologist testified people with dependent personality disorder have
difficulty understanding how their behavior affects others "because they tend to be
looking at the world through their needs, their wants, and it's tough for them to fully
understand how their behavior is affecting other people.” She expressed concemn about
Father's ability to develop a healthy parent-child relationship because of his focus on his
own emotional needs. She also "[had] concerns that part of [Father's] interest in
becoming a parent also has to do with his own emotional needs, wanting someone to love
him."

The district court found Father had been suffering from a long-term mental illness
that would require extensive therapy, but Father had failed to pursue this treatment
option. It is questionable whether this alone would be enough to support a finding that it

was i1 Baby Girl G.'s best interest to terminate Father's parental rights. Even so, this
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finding is discretionary, and the court did not use it as the sole basis for terminating
Father's parental rights. Thus, even if it was not supported by substantial competent

evidence, this would not necessarily require reversal.

Petitioners also argue that we may affirm on the alternative ground that Father is
unfit, even though the district court declined to rule on this issue. In order to do as they
ask, instead of simply reviewing the district court's finding, we would have to find Father
was unfit by clear and convincing evidence. See K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136(h) (stating
court may order termination of parental rights on a finding of clear and convincing
evidence of listed factors). But it is not our role to make fact-findings. Thus, we decline
to rule on this issue. See In re Adoption of D.D.H., 39 Kan. App. 2d 831, 837, 184 P.3d
967 (2008) (declining to find Father unfit on appeal when district court had refused to do

80).

Did the District Court Err in Awarding Atiorney Fees?

Father argnes the district court erred in awarding attorney fees because it entered
its final order without allowing his counsel to submit an updated statement of fees.
K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2134(c) provides an adoption proceeding's costs "shall be paid by
the petitioner or as assessed by the court.” A district court's decision to award attorney
fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Wiles v. Aﬁzerican Family Life Assurance Co.,
302 Kan. 66, 81, 350 P.3d 1071 (2015). A judicial action constitutes an abuse of
discretion if (1) no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court; (2)

it is based on an error of law; or (3) it is based on an error of fact. 302 Kan. at 81.

In November 2018, Father requested a court-appointed attorney. The district court
granted Father's request but ordered Father to pay $400 per month toward his attorney
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fees. The court also ordered the adoptive parents to advance $1,000 toward Father's

atiorney fees.

In January 2019, Father's attorney moved for payment of fees accrued to date. She
alleged she had spent over 83 hours on his case and accrued an outstanding balance of
$12,320 in fees. The district court granted the motion in part and ordered the adoptive i
parents to pay an additional $2,000 toward Father's attorey fees.

At the end of the termination trial, Father's attorncy again raised the issue of
attorney fees. Because the district court had not seen her updated total, she offered to

submit it so the court could address it at a later date.

A little over two weeks later, the district court entered an order finding Father
responsible for the rest of his attorney's unpaid fees. The court stated Father had
originally retained his attorney, paying her $2,500, but later requested a court-appointed
attorney. The court found Father partially indigent and ordered him to pay $400 a month
to his attorney. Father's attorney also asked the court to appoint her. The court did so but

advised her it would determine the appropriate amount of fees af the end of the case.

In its final order on attomey fees, the district court found Father's counsel had
already been paid $6,700, and she "[had] indicated that she has 78.6 hours work invested
into this case and is requesting total fees of $12,780." The court also noted the adoptive
parent's counsel had presented information that Father had a "Go Fund Me" page to raise
money to fight the adoption, and he had raised $600 toward his goal of $10,000 "even
though [FFather] has been provided appellate counsel through the courts.” The court then

concluded Father was not indigent and ordered him to pay his counsel's remaining fees.
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Father argnes the district court erred because it entered an order without allowing
his counsel to provide an updated fee total. The record suggests the court did have

counsel's updated fee totals. The court appears, however, to have misread them.

As part of her January 2019 motion for fees, Father's counsel presented a record of
her charges from October 22, 2018, until January 12, 2019. The record showed counsel
had billed 83.1 hours at $200 an hour for a total of $16,620. Counsel then subtracted
$4,300 worth of payments she had already received, resulting in a total fee of $12,320.

Father's attorney also filed a motion objecting to the district court's final award of
attorney fees, attaching two updated statements. Petitioners also added an email from
Father's attorney to the record on appeal. That email included the updated statements.
Petitioners claim this email was also received by the district court before it entered its
order, but this is not clear from the record. One statement covers fees accrued from
January 1 to January 31, 2019, when counsel was apparently still with a law firm. At the
top of that statement it states "PREVIOUS BALANCE: $10,420." This appears to be the
total amount of fees counsel had accrued from October 22, 2018, until December 31,
2018, minus all payments made in that time. The statement then lists fees accrued in
January 2019. The statement showed counsel billed 23.8 hours at $200 an hour, resulting
in an additional $4,760 in fees. Counsel added this to her previous balance, for a total of

$14,780. Finally, she subtracted $2,000 worth of payments, ending in a total of $12,780.

Father's counsel also provided a second statement covering the period from
February 16, 2019, until March 9, 2019, including the three days of trial. It appears
counsel had left her previous law firm at this point. The statement shows 54.8 billable
hours at $150 an hour. Counsel subtracted a $400 payment, resulting in a total of $7,820.
Looking at these two statements together, Father's counsel billed a total of 78.6 hours
after December 31, 2018. She also requested a total fee of $20,600.
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In its order, the district court's findings suggest it had access to these two updated
statements. For example, the court notes Father's counsel had billed 78.6 hours. This is
consistent with the total billed hours from the two updated statements, and not the 83.1
total billed houss claimed in counsel's first statement. The court also acknowledged
counsel charged $200 an hour while with the law firm but only charged $150 an hour
after she left the law firm. This information was included in the two updated statements

and not counsel's first statement.

Even so, the district court appears to have misread the updated statements. The
court found "[Counsel] has indicated she had 78.6 hours work invested into this case and
is requesting total fees of $12,780." But counsel's statements show she had worked 78.6
hours in 2019 alone. This does not include time worked in 2018. Additionally, $12,780
represents the total fees accrued up to January 31, 2019, while counsel was still at the law

firm. It does not include the $7,820 she accrued once she left the law firm.

Additionally, in evaluating the reasonableness of attorney fees, a court should
consider the eight factors listed in Kansas Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(a) (2019
Kan. S. Ct. R. 300). Snider v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 297 Kan. 157, 169, 293
P.3d 1120 (2013). Those eight factors are:

"(1) the time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions involved, and
the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly;

"(2) the likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular
employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer;

"(3) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services;

"(4) the amount involved and the results obtained;

"(3) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances;

"(6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client;

"(7) the experence, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the

services; and
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"(8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent." Rule 1.5{a)(2019 Kan. Ct. R. 300).

The district court did not reference Rule 1.5 in its order nor do its comments suggest it

considered any of these factors.

Father claims the district court did not have his attorney's updated fee statements
when it entered its final order assessing all remaining fees to Father. Based on the court's
order, it appears to have had the statements because it made fact findings based on
information in those statements. Nonetheless, the court appears to have misread the
statements, making its findings inaccurate. Additionally, the court failed to consider the
factors listed in Rule 1.5. As a result, the district court erred in assessing attorney fees,

and the fee award is reversed and remanded.

On remand the district court should determine: (1) what is a reasonable fee under
these circumstances; (2) how much should Father be assessed considering his income and
other reasonable circumstances; (3) how much should the adoptive parents be assessed;
(4) should the rates used by the Board of Indigents Defense Services be used; and (5) the
application of Rule 1.5(¢) and Snider.

Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded with directions.

LN

ATCHESON, J., concurring: Although I concur in the result affirming the Sedgwick
County District Court's termination of Father's parental rights in conjunction with the
adoption of Baby Girl G. and remanding for further consideration of the attorney fee
issue, I offer an observation on how the child's best interest has been considered in this

casc,




The adoptive parents of Baby Girl G. filed their action to terminate Father's
parental rights in September 2018, and the district court entered the termination order in
March 2019. The parties debated in the district court and again on appeal whether Baby
Girl G.'s "best interest” would be furthered by terminating Father's rights and allowing
the adoption. The district court found the adoption would be in the child's best interest.
Under K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 59-2136(h)}(2)(A), a district court could consider the best
interest of the child in terminating a parent's rights but was not obligated to do so. K.S.A.
2017 Supp. 59-2136(h)(2)(A) ("In making a finding whether parental rights shall be
terminated under this subsection, the court may: [A] Consider and weigh the best interest
of the child.™). In 2018, the Kansas Legislature replaced the permissive consideration of
the child's best interest with a mandatory assessment of the "relevant . . . circumstances"”
bearing on termination. K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 59-2136(h)(2)(A) ("In making a finding
whether parental rights shall be terminated under this subsection, the court: [A] Shall

consider all of the relevant surrounding circumstances.").

On appeal, the parties have not invited us to look at the legislative amendment—
they haven't even mentioned it. And the district court did not presume to apply the new
statutory provision. Under the circumstances, I see no reason why we should go where
we haven't been invited. The best interest consideration in K.S.A. 2017 Supp. 59-
2136(h)(2)(A) replicates one of the criteria for terminating parental rights under the
Revised Kansas Code for Care of Children, K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 38-2201 et seq. See
K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 38-2269(g)(1). We have consistently held that the best interests
determination in the revised code is entrusted to the district court's sound discretion, and
we will review the determination only for an abuse of that discretion. In re R.S., 50 Kan.
App. 2d 1105, 1115-16, 336 P.3d 903 (2014). The same standard presumably governs

here.

A district court exceeds that broad latitude if it rules in a way no reasonable

Judicial officer would under the circumstances, if it ignores controlling facts or relies on
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unproven factual representations, or if it acts outside the legal framework appropriate to
the issue. See Northern Natural Gas Co. v. ONEQOK Field Services Co., 296 Kan. 906,
935, 296 P.3d 1106 (2013); State v. Ward, 292 Kan, 541, Syl. 1 3,256 P.3d 801 (2011).1

see no abuse of discretion here in assessing Baby Girl G.'s best interest.

The district court pointed out Father's mental health history that entailed chronic
depression and a personality disorder, both of which were, according to the hearing
testimony, resistant to quick treatment or resolution. Based on that testimony, the district
court found that Father's mental health "adversely affect[ed] his everyday activities." So
those problems could seep into his relationship with Baby Girl G. and any ongoing
inferaction with the child's mother if the adoption did not go forward. Not to put too fine
a point on it, Father and Mother had an emotionally toxic relationship. Mentioned only
briefly in the district court's findings, Father had longstanding substance abuse issues. At
the time of the hearing, he appeared to have those problems in check. Balanced against
those negatives, Father had supervised visits with Baby Girl G. leading up to the
termination hearing that were, for the most part, positive, although he appeared to have
fallen asleep during a couple of the sessions. He also had purchased a house shortly
before Baby Gitl G.'s birth, so he had a suitable residence. The district court made

sufficient findings for us to assess its conclusion.

Given our deferential review on this issue, I would not tamper with the district

court's best interest determination.
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